BYLAWS THE DOROTHY F. SCHMIDT COLLEGE OF ARTS AND LETTERS

Revision Adopted January 2004 Amended July 2016 Revision Adopted May 2019

Amended May 2020

PREAMBLE

In recognition that the Faculty Assembly has established the Florida Atlantic University
Faculty Constitution and Bylaws to define shared governance for the University¹, The Faculty
of The Dorothy F. Schmidt College of Arts and Letters adopts these Bylaws to define the role
of faculty governance within that College. The Faculty has approved the Bylaws of The
Dorothy F. Schmidt College of Arts and Letters with full acknowledgment that au (a)4.here subordinate to
l as to University President and Provost memoranda. At the same
histration and the Faculty agree that the Faculty plays an essential
licies and practices by which the University fulfills its academic

overnance and of these Bylanes is to twintain the respect and the /P <</MCID 11 >>3B43 (e)4-0MT1 01ee01ee9 -1.05Td 5[4] ty and Administration that make it possible for the University to

The faculty of The Dorothy F. Schmidt College of Arts and Letters will consist of those

SECTION 2. THE DEPARTMENTS

The primary academic units of The Dorothy F. Schmidt College shall be its Departments, Schools, Institutes and Centers.

A. The Department Chair

- 1. Rank. The Department Chair shall be a faculty member with the rank of associate professor or professor.
- 2. Liaison with Dean. The Chair shall serve as liaison between the Department and the office of the Dean, coordinating and facilitating Department affairs.
- 3. Selection. Selection and appointment of the Department Chair will be executed in accordance with accepted university guidelines as outlined in Provost memo 2.2.5 (last revised March 2011).

4.

B. Academic Rank.

The Dean shall hold the rank of professor in one of the Departments of The Dorothy F. Schmidt College.

C. Search Committee for a New Dean

- 1. Composition. When a Dean is to be replaced, a search committee shall be established, in accordance with Provost memoranda, that:
- a. Includes members appointed by the President of the University or his/her designee(s).
- b. Includes one representative elected by and from each Department in The Dorothy F. Schmidt College.
- c. Is so constituted that The Dorothy F. Schmidt college faculty representatives constitute a majority vote of those voting.
- 2. Faculty Review. The search committee shall present its recommendations to The Dorothy F. Schmidt College faculty assembly prior to informing the appropriate administrator.

D. Evaluation.

Evaluation of the Dean shall take place at least once every three years by the chief academic officer of Florida Atlantic University or that officer's designee in consultation with a committee composed of one representative elected by and from each Department within The Dorothy F. Schmidt College.

E. Reports to the faculty.

The Dean, or the Dean's designee, shall provide the Faculty Assembly with information on a timely basis, and at least once each year, on:

- 1. The budget and resources of the college, by department, by program, and by category
- 2. The expenditures of the College and departments during the past fiscal year.
- 3. The teaching, research, and service productivity of each department, along with an assessment of the status and progress of the College.

ARTICLE II THE DOROTHY F. SCHMIDT COLLEGE FACULTY ASSEMBLY

SECTION 1. <u>FUNCTIONS</u>

The Faculty Assembly of The Dorothy F. Schmidt College of Arts and Letters is established for the purposes of Faculty governance.

A. Educational Policy.

The Dorothy F. Schmidt College Faculty Assembly shall be concerned with matters of College educational policy, including curriculum, admissions, degree programs, certificates, and departmental minors.

B. Matter of General Faculty Interest.

The Faculty Assembly shall consider matters within the College of general faculty interest which shall include, but not be limited to policies on tenure, hiring, and promotion; student affairs; and administrative matters, including college organization and the coordination of academic programs at multiple sites.

C. Advisory to the Dean.

The Faculty Assembly shall be advisory to the dean in matters of planning and budgeting.

D. Consideration of Additional Issues.

The Faculty may consider any other issue that may affect it including budget, physical facilities, planning, and campus enrollment.

SECTION 2. MEMBERSHIP

Membership in The Dorothy F. Schmidt College Faculty Assembly shall consist of General Members, Voting Members, and Elected Departmental and Program Representatives from among the voting membership.

A. General Membership.

All faculty members as defined in Article I. Section1 shall comprise the General Membership.

B. Voting Membership.

sabbatical or medical leave are eligible for voting, office holding or service. Members on a leave of absence will become eligible for voting, office holding or service upon their return to service. Deans and associate deans shall be ex-officio, non-voting, members.

C. Elected Departmental and Program Representatives.

Each Department and Program shall elect one representative and one alternate (excluding chairs and directors) to attend each Faculty Assembly Meeting. Each Department Chair shall report names of said representatives to the Faculty Assembly Chair before the first meeting of the academic year.

SECTION 3. OFFICERS AND ELECTION PROCEDURES FOR OFFICERS

A. The Officers

The officers of the Faculty Assembly shall be a Chair, a Vice-Chair, and a Secretary.

1. The Chair

The Chair shall be a member of the faculty of the Dorothy F. Schmidt College holding no administrative rank higher than department chair, and shall be responsible for the following and for such other duties as are appropriate to the office.

- a. The Chair shall call all meetings of the Faculty Assembly.
- b. The Chair shall preside over meetings of the Faculty Assembly.
- c. The Chair shall attend meetings of the College Executive Committee as the representative from the Faculty Assembly.
- d. The Chair shall represent the Faculty as a whole to the Dean and other administrators.
- e. The Chair shall remind all Departments to elect Faculty committee representatives in March.
- f. The Chair shall appoint someone (usually from the Steering Committee) to act as official parliamentarian at all Assembly meetings.
- g. The Chair shall distribute to each General Member a meeting notice with an agenda at least three working days prior to each meeting of the Faculty Assembly.
- h. The Chair shall prepare and distribute ballots, paper or electronic, to all Voting Members for the election of officers.

2. The Vice-Chair

The Vice-Chair shall be responsible for the following and for such other duties that are appropriate to the office.

- a. The Vice-Chair shall preside in the absence of the Chair.
- b. The Vice-Chair shall consult and coordinate with the Chairs of Standing and Special Committees on a regular basis.

3. The Secretary

The Secretary shall be responsible for the following and for such other duties that are appropriate to the office.

- a. Minutes. The Secretary shall record and transcribe minutes for all meetings of the Assembly, recoorC.004co Asc10 (r)3 (s)-1 (uc)4 (h)-11 (t (r)3 3017 >>BDC 0.0 (uc)6.47e)4 (S)4 (f)3,(ngs)-c.9 (
- O 1.19f0 Tw f0 Tw (eg)6 ce11 (c)4 Tw ar (519 Tw 4.al(ha)4l(ha)49 (519e4 Tw v)]TJ 0 o0.96 -1.24

the electronic ba	not.		

7

b. A teller committee composed of one Voting Member appointed by each candidate shall count

B. Reports

At least one of the four meetings (normally the last of the academic year) will include reports from Committees as requested by the Steering Committee. Committees shall post their reports on the Faculty Assembly web page at least one week prior to this meeting.

C. Special Meetings

The Chair shall call special meetings when needed, or when ten percent of Voting Members petition to have one.

D. Quorum

Each Committee shall report to the Faculty Assembly as requested by the Steering Committee, according to Article II, Section 5, B above.

D. Substitute

A member may designate a substitute, who shall have the same rights and obligations as the member, except on the Promotion and Tenure Committee, where a substitute may only vote on personnel decisions if they have had time to review all files.

E. Representation

Members representing Departments shall be responsible for carrying forward the viewpoints of all Department members and shall keep Department members informed of Committee business.

F. Administration Membership

The Dean or the Dean's designee shall serve ex-officio, without voting, on all committees. The Dean, Associate Deans, or Assistant Deans shall serve in this capacity only.

G. Student Service on Committees

Students who serve on Committees must be currently enrolled and in good academic standing.

H. Other Ex-Officio Member 0 Tc 0-11 (i81/52 (e)4 (Mem)-10 (o)-We)4 (vi)-12 (e838 -1.24 -2 (36)-8 (er

faculty with a primary assignment to one of the partner campuses are eligible to be elected to such a position.

2. Date for Election to Membership

All Departments and other programs, where appropriate, shall elect their Committee representatives in March.

3. Terms

Members shall assume office at the beginning of the fall semester and serve two-year terms.

4. Vacancies

In the event of a vacancy the Department or other Unit shall elect a replacement to serve to the end of the current term.

5. Meetings

Committees shall meet regularly, as necessary, but at least once each fall and spring semester.

6. Committee Officers

Each Standing Committee shall elect a Chair who shall serve two years and a Secretary who shall serve one year.

a. The Chair

The Chair of each Standing Committee shall:

- (1) preside at Committee meetings;
- (2) solicit agenda items, then prepare and distribute the agenda;
- (3) communicate with the Vice-Chair of the Faculty Assembly.

b. The Secretary

The Secretary of each Standing Committee shall:

(2) as outgoing Secretary pass all minutes and all committee data to the newly elected Secretary at the first meeting of the Committee in the fall.

7. Review of Decisions

Decisions of a Standing Committee shall be subject to review by the Faculty Assembly.

B. The Committees

The following Standing Committees are established.

1. THE STEERING COMMITTEE

The structure and responsibilities of the Steering Committee shall include the following:

a. Membership

The membership of this Committee shall be reconstituted each year and shall be comprised of the Chair, the Vice-Chair, and the Secretary of the Faculty Assembly; one of the members of the College who serves on the University Faculty Senate, chosen by The Dorothy F. Schmidt College members of the University Faculty Senate; one member elected at large from the Faculty Assembly; and one at-large representative from the faculty of the Partner campuses.

(1) Chairs of all Standing Committees shall be invited to attend all Steering Committee meetings.

The responsibilities of the Steering Committee shall include the following:

b. Agenda

The Committee shall set the agenda for College meetings.

c. Elections

The Committee shall issue calls for nominations and prepare ballots, paper or electronic, for College-wide elections.

d. Advisory to the Dean

The Committee shall advise the Dean on the formulation and execution of policies, matters of budgetary policy, personnel policy concerning allocation of merit and other awards, and other matters delegated to it by the Faculty Assembly.

e. Advisory to the Faculty Assembly

The Committee shall initiate, discuss, evaluate, and recommend short and long-range plans and policies for the College to the Faculty Assembly.

f. Committee Officers

The Chair and the Secretary of the Faculty Assembly shall serve as the Chair and Secretary for this Committee.

g. Quorum

A quorum for this Committee shall consist of four members.

2. THE UNDERGRADUATE PROGRAMS COMMITTEE

The structure and responsibilities of the Undergraduate Programs Committee shall include the following:

a. Membership

Membership shall include one member elected by and from each department and undergraduate degree-granting program.

b. Approval of Courses and Programs

- (1) The Committee shall review and recommend to the corresponding University Committee approval or, for cause, disapproval of all proposed new undergraduate courses and programs.
- (2) Recommendations for changes in the University Core Curriculum shall be made and considered in accordance with policies established by the University Faculty Senate.

c. Communication of Actions

The Committee shall communicate its actions in writing to the Department or Unit initiating the proposal for a new course, program, or item of concern; and, if disapproval is recommended, the specific grounds for such action shall be included in the report.

d. Development of Policies and Procedures

The Committee shall review and recommend to the Faculty Assembly policies and procedures related to undergraduate

- (1) academic standards;
- (2) admissions;
- (3) limited access programs;
- e. Representation to University Faculty Senate Committee

The Chair of the Committee shall serve as The Dorothy F. Schmidt College representative to the corresponding University Faculty Senate Committee.

3. THE GRADUATE PROGRAMS COMMITTEE

The structure and responsibilities of the Graduate Programs Committee shall include the following:

a. Membership

Membership shall include one member elected by and from each department and graduate degree-granting program.

b. Approval of Courses and Programs

The Committee shall review and recommend to the corresponding University Committee approval or, for cause, disapproval of all proposed new graduate courses and programs.

c. Graduate Student Petitions

The Committee shall review and recommend to the appropriate Department or other Unit approval or, for cause, disapproval of graduate student petitions.

d. Communication of Actions

The Committee shall communicate its actions in writing to the Department or Unit initiating the proposal for a new course, program, or item of concern; and if disapproval is recommended, the specific grounds for such action shall be included in the report.

e. Development of Policies and Procedures

The Committee shall review and recommend to the Faculty Assembly policies and procedures relating to graduate

- (1) academic standards;
- (2) admissions;
- (3) petitions;
- f. Representation to University Faculty Senate Committee

b.	Recommen	dations	to F	aculty	Assembly	v

The Committee shall make recommendations to the Faculty Assembly on matters pertaining to

attention matters of concern to the faculty and shall report to the Faculty Assembly on issues communicated to them by the Dean.

c. Agenda

The Agenda will be drafted through consultation between the Dean and Committee Chair.

7. THE STRATEGIC PLANNING COMMITTEE

The structure and responsibilities of the Strategic Planning Committee shall include the following:

a. Membership

The committee shall be comprised of twelve total members: 8 at-large members and 4 Executive Committee members. In consultation with the Dean, members are nominated by the Chairs/Directors of the academic units in the College so as to represent a diversity of areas (arts, humanities and social science) and rank. The Dean may also appoint additional ad-hoc staff/administrative members to serve as consultants to the committee so as to facilitate access to necessary data, context and staff/administrative perspective. The Faculty Assembly Steering Committee will also select a representative to serve on the Executive Committee. One member of the Executive Committee will be selected by the entire committee to serve as chair.

The term of service for the 8 at-large members will be no more than one consecutive year.

The term of service for ad-hoc staff/administrative members will be no more than one consecutive year.

The term of service on the Executive Committee is two years; the first year as a member of the Executive Committee, and the second year as an at-large member.

b. Responsibilities

The responsibilities of the Strategic Planning Committee shall include the following:

- monitor the College's progress in meeting the goals of the Strategic Plan
- receive and evaluate feedback from students, faculty and staff on the health of the College and/or suggestions for priorities, strategies and initiatives
- recommend enhancements and/or adjustments to the plan if appropriate or necessary
- review and prioritize goals, strategies and initiatives

The responsibilities of the Executive Committee shall include the following:

- establish timeline, meeting schedules, specific tasks and goals for the committee and for its individual members
- consult with Dean and College Budget Director as needed and requested
- present report to Faculty Assembly each semester
- submit a progress report to the Dean in mid-December.
- submit a final, formal end-of-year report to the Dean and the Faculty Assembly in May with updated metric charts including best available data and recommendations for upcoming academic years c. Agenda

The agenda of the Strategic Planning Committee is to assist in the enhancement and maintenance of the College's vitality by monitoring the College's progress in meeting its established strategic goals; receiving and evaluating feedback from students, faculty and staff; and recommending enhancements and/or adjustments to the plan if appropriate or necessary. Annual progress evaluations will be conducted and updates will be provided to the University, members of the College, and interested stakeholders.

d. Advisory to the Dean

The Committee shall advise the Dean on all matters relevant to the College's goals, initiatives and direction as well as the strategies and procedures most effective in accomplishing those objectives.

e. Quorum

A quorum for this Committee shall consist of a majority of members.

8. THE NON-TENURE TRACK FACULTY PROMOTION COMMITTEE

The structure and responsibilities of the Non-Tenure Track Faculty Promotion Committee shall include the following:

a. Membership

The membership of the Committee shall be reconstituted each year and shall be comprised of two tenured faculty (one of whom will serve as Chair of the committee), two senior instructors, and one college faculty administrator. Unit administrators will nominate tenured faculty and senior instructors to the Dean, who will make the final appointments. The Dean will appoint the college faculty administrator.

b.

The responsibilities of the Non-Tenure Track Promotion Committee will be to review applications from NTT faculty, and make recommendations to the Dean on promotion.

b. Responsibilities

The responsibilities of the Undergraduate Scholarship and Awards Committee will be to review applications from full time undergraduate students at FAU for scholarships, awards, and fellowships.

c. Agenda

The agenda of the Committee will be to review applications, discuss and vote on candidates for awards. The work will take place in Fall and Spring semesters.

d. Development of Policies and Procedures

The Committee shall recommend to the Faculty Assembly general procedures, criteria, and policies affecting undergraduate awards and scholarships. The Committee shall keep minutes of its discussions on other issues.

e. Communication of Actions

The Committee will act as a consultative body for the purpose of advising the Dean on the College's diversity and inclusion issues as they relate to faculty, staff, and students. The Committee shall: (1) Meet at least twice each semester, (2) Propose activities and practices that enhance diversity and cohesion within the College's community of faculty, staff, and students, with said proposals and potential budgetary requests given strong consideration by the Dean (3) Assist in training of faculty and staff search committees to ensure best practices for inclusive searches, (4) Towards the end of each academic year, deliver a report before the Faculty Assembly on the status of diversity and inclusion within the College. To the extent possible, said report shall compare current data on diversity in the College to that of previous year(s), and other Colleges or comparable units at the University.

c. Quorum

A quorum for this Committee shall consist of a sixty percent majority of members.

SECTION 3. SPECIAL COMMITTEES

The Faculty Assembly shall establish Special Committees at its discretion on any topic not assigned to a Standing Committee. All Special Committees shall be reviewed annually and may be continued only by a majority vote of the Faculty Assembly.

ARTICLE IV ELECTION OF COLLEGE MEMBERS TO UNIVERSITY FACULTY SENATE

SECTION 1. ELIGIBILITY

All Voting Members of The Dorothy F. Schmidt College Faculty Assembly are eligible for nomination and election to any of the positions allocated to the College on the University Faculty Senate.

SECTION 2. NOMINATION

The Secretary of the Faculty Assembly shall request nominations at-large from the Faculty.

SECTION 3. ELECTION

A. Preparation of Ballot

The Secretary will prepare a ballot containing the names of all nominees who have agreed to run.

B. The Election Process

The Secretary, or a replacement designated by the Chair should the Secretary be a candidate, will conduct the election process.

- 1. He/she will distribute the ballots, paper or electronic, to the Voting Members of the Faculty Assembly.
- 2. The Chair of the Faculty Assembly shall appoint a teller committee consisting of three faculty members not up for election to count the ballots or verify the electronic ballots.
- 3. The winners shall be determined on the basis of who has received the most votes.
- 4. If a tie vote occurs, the Secretary will repeat the ballot process.
- 5. The Secretary will report the results to the University Faculty Senate, the Provost, and to those elected.

ARTICLE V PARLIAMENTARY AUTHORITY

The parliamentary authority of The Dorothy F. Schmidt College of Arts and Letters is the most recently revised edition of *Robert's Rules of Order*, *Newly Revised*.

ARTICLE VI AMENDMENTS

SECTION 1. PROPOSAL

Amendments to the Bylaws may be proposed by either of two methods.

A. Steering Committee

The Steering Committee of the Dorothy F. Schmidt College Faculty Assembly may act as, or appoint, a Special Bylaws Committee to formulate proposals for amendment.

B. Faculty Petition

Ten percent of the Voting Members of The Dorothy F. Schmidt College Faculty Assembly may present a proposal for amendment by petition to the Chair of the Assembly.

SECTION 2. CONSIDERATION

A. Discussion

A proposed amendment will be placed on the Faculty Assembly agenda for discussion. A motion to send the proposed amendment to a ballot shall be in order after the call for the question, but before a vote is taken. The motion to send to a ballot shall be adopted providing one third of the members present, or 10 members, whichever is greater, favor such a motion.

B. Summary

The Chair shall appoint two members to prepare a summary of the arguments, pro and con, to accompany the ballot.

SECTION 3. ADOPTION

A. Ballots

Voting shall be by ballot, paper or electronic, which shall be distributed by the Secretary of the Assembly to the Voting Members no later than four weeks after the discussion.

B. Tellers

A teller committee appointed by the Chair of the Faculty Assembly shall count ballots or verify the electronic ballots no later than two weeks after distribution.

C. Vote Required

Amendments to the Bylaws shall become effective immediately after approval by a three-fifths majority of those who return valid ballots provided at least 40% of the Voting Members have returned valid ballots.

¹FAU Faculty Constitution and Bylaws, adopted September 30, 1994; Revised January 2004; Amended July 2016; Revised May 2019.

²Article IV. Section 1. Florida Atlantic University Faculty Constitution and Bylaws.

³Bylaws of the Boca Faculty Senate Committee of the United Faculty Senate, adopted September 30, 1994.